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Forward

This study was conducted by students of the Masters
of Historic Preservation program at the University
of Georgia enrolled in the Building Materials
Conservation course. This project spanned the course
of one semester, between August and December of
2011, under the direction of Professor Scott Messer.
We hope that the information provided proves
beneficial to all persons and organizations involved
in the preservation of the Rock House. The Rock
House is a rare cultural resource in Georgia. Through
proper materials conservation the Rock House

will remain a tangible resource to those seeking a

window into the past.

This study analyzed historic records, past and
current physical conditions, and preservation
approaches suitable for the Rock House. We have
proposed a list of preservation objectives and work
recommendations, which highlight the needs of the
site. Currently, additional historical information

is needed to develop an historically accurate

interpretation plan for the site’s public use.
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Resource Name
“The Rock House™
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Listed on the National Register of Historic Places
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¢ Interviews
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Introduction

The Rock House of McDuffie County, Georgia is an
enigma of the past. With an origin largely unknown,
the Rock House stands silent, despite many attempts
to speak on its behalf. Yet, documents pinpointing
the approximate date of the Rock House’s
construction are absent from historical records. All
involved parties appear to agree the property, upon
which the Rock House currently rests, belonged to
Thomas Ansley by 1786, with documented proof
coming from deed records. However, the question of
by whom and when the Rock House was constructed

remains widely unknown.

Several theories and speculations exist as to

the origins of the Rock House.! Was it Thomas
Ansley who built the Rock House? Or did Ansley
commission Scottish indentured servants to build

it under the watchful eye of expert stone mason,
William Manson in the late 1700s? Or was it
Thomas Galphin, the famous South Carolinian, who
was known for his fortified trading posts on the
Southern frontier? Or was it some mixture of these
scenarios? Unfortunately, these questions remain

unanswered.

Area and Context
The Rock House currently rests on a small, county

owned parcel in rural McDuffie County, GA.

1 Wilson, Epp, “A New Look at an Old
House.”
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Driving through the area today, one can barely tell
that the region was an established settlement from
the late 1700s until the turn of the 20th century. Two
settlements developed in the vicinity of the Rock
House location: Wrightsboro and Friendsboro. The
origins of Wrightsboro are also currently debated:;
the dominant theory states that a Quaker man by the
name of Joseph Maddock founded the settlement. It
is said that Maddock wrote to Governor Wright of
Georgia around 1767 to ask for land that had been
recently ceded by the Native Americans to start a
Quaker Community. Maddock was trying to flee
the North Carolinian Governor Tyrone’s oppressive
rule. Wright accepted, and granted Maddock and
his Quakers 12,000 acres for settlement. Thus,
the settlement was named, Wrightsboro, in honor
of the gift. Although, referred to as a Quaker
community, census records found only 1 in 5 settlers
were Quakers. Thomas Ansley and his family were
among the non-Quaker settlers who established
Wrightsboro. Ansley was an opportunist and
took the chance to move with a group that would
establish a stable community and gain protection
from the Native Americans. Sixty-two families
total, including Ansley’s, made the trek to establish
Wrightsboro and each received a land grant of 200
acres, along with a one-acre lot within the town of
Wrightsboro.

Friendsboro was another Quaker settlement founded

shortly after Wrightsboro. Friendsboro was started




by Orkney Island-native, stone mason, and sea
captain William Manson. Manson also petitioned
Governor Wright for land to settle with indentured
servants from Scotland. Governor Wright again
agreed. Friendsboro may have been a plantation
rather than a proper town. However, attacks from
Native Americans and other hardships proved too

burdensome for the settlement to survive, past one
year.?

Rock House Origin Theories
Numerous origin theories exist for the construction
of the Rock House. Several of these theories are
briefly mentioned in the sections to follow. Without
documented proof of construction, the year the Rock
House was built and the builder, are impossible to
prove.

Thomas Ansley

Historians have generally assumed that Thomas
Ansley built the Rock House after his arrival to

the Wrightsboro settlement in 1768, and began
construction between 1782 and 1785. Though, once
again, no historical records to date have proven this
to be the case. This assumption is based on Ansley’s
confirmed ownership of the property, upon which
the Rock House is sited, in 1785, and his subsequent
deeding of that property (with no mention of a
structure) to his family members.

2

If Ansley did in fact build the Rock House, the
structure is unusual in comparison to other structures
of the time and place. Ansley, however, was a
successful political leader and planter; therefore

in comparison to other houses in the Quaker
community, Ansley’s house may have been more
pretentious and more permanent. A study completed
by architect Norman Askins in 1979, places the
Rock House as having its “prototype in the British
stone cabins found in the New Jersey/Pennsylvania
region.” Although, Ansley’s residence is more
substantial in comparison to these stone cabin
prototypes. An explanations may come from the
structure’s close proximity to the Savannah Road, a

major trading route during the eighteenth century.

In keeping with the back country code of hospitality,
Ansley may have extended lodging to travelers of
the Savannah Road. At the time it was common

for a house to become recognized as a landmark

on a heavily traveled road and the Rock House
house may have been recognized for its castle-like
construction.*

Another house in McDuffie County similar in plan
to the Rock House is the Bowdre-Rees House. The
Bowdre-Rees house built in 1806, had a small,

unheated guest room added to board road travelers.

Although there is no evidence to support this idea,

3 Askins, 10.

Askins, 11.
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“it is very possible that Ansley operated an inn

out of the house. He was well equipped with
supplies and it seems hardly possible for him to
have ignored this opportunity.”™ The two south
facing rooms on the principal floor were the major
living spaces in the house. Based on the size of
the fireplace, one would presume that the southeast
room was the sitting room or hall. The space to its
left, the southwest room would have normally been
the parlor. Both south rooms vie for importance
since both are approximately the same size and
both have a door facing the front of the house.
“The original room, arrangement would have
somewhat compartmentalized the family’s quarters
for maximum privacy, reserving the east side of the

house’s first floor for guests.™

George Galphin

New details have emerged suggesting how the
South Carolinian George Galphin first acquired
40,000 acres, and then agreed to let 12,000 acres
go towards the founding of Wrightsboro. This
would substantiate why a man of questionable
morals like Galphin (multiple wives, illegal trader)
would have a square named after him by the

Quakers in the Wrightsboro settlement.’

Additionally, this gives weight to the frontier

5 Norman Askins Study, 11.
6 Askins, 37.
7 Wilson, Epp, “A New Look at an Old
House.”
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trading post history, if Galphin owned the land
before the settlement. The Rock House’s placement
along the Savannah Road, a known trading route for
Native Americans and early settlers, and its double
doors on the north fagade enhance the validity of this

theory.

William Manson

William Manson’s potential role in the construction
of the Rock House should not be discounted either.
We learn from William Bartram’s Travels accounts
of Manson’s skill as a stone mason.® The Friendsboro
community, containing indentured servants from the
same Orkney Islands as Manson, might have been as
skilled in stone construction as Mason. Therefore, it
is possible that the Rock House was built by servants
of the community. The rationale for this theory
stems from the architecture of the Orkney Islands,
which still have buildings similar in construction and
design to the Rock House. Combine this observation
with the proximity, and skilled hands of Friendsboro,

and we arrive at yet another plausible theory.

Construction History

There are no documents supporting the Rock
House’s date of construction. Additionally,
property records between 1817 and 1844 do not
exist for McDuffie County, thus making the date of
construction more difficult to confirm. According to

deed records, the property where the Rock House is

8 Wilson.
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sited was owned by Thomas Ansley in 1785.
However, the Rock House’s existence does not

definitively appear within historical record until
1875.

Deed Records and the Physical Site
of the Rock House

In 1798, Ansley deeded 330 acres of land to his

son Abel.” In the 1977 study done for the state of
Georgia’s Department of Natural Resources, the
Rock House was determined to be within these 330
acres. Abel Ansley and his wife occupied the land
prior to the deed transfer because they appear in the
tax digests of Wilkes County in 1792 paying taxes
on 328 acres. “It is thought that Ansley allowed each
of his children to set up housekeeping after their
marriages on sections of his property, deeding the

land to them after a few years.”!°

Abel Ansley willed all of his land and specified that
the plantation on which he lived could not be divided
until after the death of his widow, Lydia Morris
Ansley. She did not die until late 1838, and it is
assumed she remained at the Rock House until then.
Ansley’s plantation was divided in 1839 into three
sections, going to his two daughters and two sons. It
is most likely that one of the daughters inherited the

house because they could have immediately sold

9 Ken Thomas. The Rock House. State of
Georgia DNR. Historic Preservation Section.
Atlanta GA 1974. Pg 7.

10 Askins, 37.

the house to another person, according to the deed
records the land was ceded to Timothy Granade
and subsequently to Nicholas Bacon. Bacon ran a
farm while he owned the Rock House and the 622
acres surrounding it. The Bacon estate stayed intact
after Bacon’s death until the sale of his entire estate
in 1887 to Mrs. Effie Johnson and her sons. The
Johnson’s land had neighbored the Bacon lands on

the north, and upon purchase, merged the Bacon land
with their land holdings.

Earliest Recorded Accounts of the
Rock House

The earliest recorded account of the Rock House

is 1875. Within the McDuffie County newspaper
archives, there is an account of the “Great Cyclone™
of 1875. The storm made its way through the county,
after destroying two large properties; the tornado
reached the third house it encountered, the Rock
House. At this time, Mrs. N.C. Bacon who then
living in the Rock House, was next in the path of

the storm. The house withstood the winds and only
lost its windows. However, the wooden cookhouse,
corncrib, cotton gin, and a giant old oak in the nearby
Ansley family cemetery were destroyed. The Rock
house was one of only a few buildings to survive the

storm, testament to the excellent craftsmanship of the
structure.

11 http://files_usgwarchives.net/ga/McDuffie/
history/tornado.txt

17
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Recorded Ownership Post-Ansely
Family

The Johnsons purchased the Rock House from the
Bacons in 1887.'2 Despite his wife’s protests, in
1921, B.F. Johnson decided to cover the house in
cement to preserve the crumbling mortar and placed
a tin roof over the remaining oak shingles."* The
following description of the house written in 1933.
after Mr. Johnson’s death, describes the conditions
during this time. “It has three stories and two very
large chimneys. Part of the interior walls are sealed
with wide plank and part are unsealed showing the
rough rock wall. The sills of the house are mortised
together with wooden pins and the few nails used are
square cut and were forged by hand in a blacksmith
shop. It was the home of Mr. Bacon’s family for

many years. It is now occupied by Negro tenants.”*

After Mr. Johnsons’ death, the Rock House was
no longer used as a rental for tenant farmers. An
Explorer Scout Troop then assumed the Rock
House between 1938-1950. After 1950, the house
was abandoned.”  One may assume that during
the abandonment period of 1950-1966 is when the

majority of vandalism occurred.

Then in 1965, the Wrightsboro Quaker Community

Foundation was created, and its mission included

12 Thomas, 59.
13 Thomas, 60.
14 Thomas, 6.
15 Thomas, 6.

Historic Background

the objective to preserve the Rock House and the
heritage of the Quaker colony in Georgia. In 1966,
the heirs of Benjamin Johnson deeded the Rock

House to the Foundation.

Unfortunately, accounts of vandalism continued

for several years despite the Rock House’s new
ownership by the Wrightsboro Foundation. Between
the years of 1966-1970, there were several records of
vandalism: “All interior wood except for one piece
of siding was stripped from the house; someone set a
fire on the first floor; and deer hunters used the house
as a hunting cabin. With shutters, doors, and steps
gone, the porch sagged, weather penetrated to the

interior and cows bedded on the ground floor.”'®

16 Askins, 15.
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Time Line of Renovations through
the 1970s

After several years of ownership the Wrightsboro

foundation began repairing and restoring the

Rock House in preparation for the Centennial of
McDuffie County. “The foundation, with the help
of the Thomson Jaycees, was able to erect a fence
surrounding the property. They added a septic tank,
an electric pump (which was later stolen), a new

tin roof, and ran an electric line to the yard. The
repairs were completed under the auspices of Mr.
Hammond Reid of Dearing, Georgia, who replaced
the stolen interior walls and stairway which vandals
had heisted in the preceding years.”'” Mr. Reid used
paneling from a Columbia County farmhouse, circa
1805, for the interior replacement. During this time,
the outside walls of the house were re-stuccoed and
“[t]he inside fireplaces were cemented as were the

windowsills to prevent further decay.”'s

The restoration and repairs enabled the Rock House
to be ready for public view in October of 1970 to
celebrate the McDuffie County Centennial. “Shortly
thereafter on December 29, 1970 it was entered on
the National Register of Historic Places.”"” Securing
a place on the National Register, the Rock House
earned the attention of Jimmy Carter, then the

governor of Georgia. Carter’s ancestor, Wiley

157 Thomas, 7.
18 Thomas, 7.
19 Thomas, 7.

Carter, married Anna Ansley, daughter of Abel and
Lydia Ansley in 1821. Jimmy Carter’s support led to
“early restoration efforts and extensive research done
by Ken Thomas that was then published in 1977.72
In 1974, the State of Georgia, under the Georgia
Heritage Trust Program acquired the Rock House.
Vandalism to the Rock House and its site continued
even after Ken Thomas completed his extensive
research study and Mr. Reid’s renovation in 1970.

In an effort to restore the deteriorating Rock House,
the Historic Preservation Division of Georgia

funded another in depth study of the Rock House to
determine the best preservation treatment. At this
time it was determined that the Rock House was one
of the earliest stone construction houses remaining

in Georgia and that it should be restored back to its

eighteenth century appearance.?!

Norman Askin’s Renovations in the
1980s

Norman Askins, an architect from Atlanta, led the
team in the renovation of the Rock House in 1979.
The architectural section of Mr. Askins study goes
through each section of the house. documenting
“evidence” of what existed in the house upon
examination and what changes they made to the
structure.

20 Askins, 15.
21 Askins, 39.
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(For location references to the following section

see Developmental History: Floor Plans 6-7)

Interior Staircase

The rebuilt interior staircase in the center of the main
floor is the most obvious change in the interior of the
structure. Formally a winding stair was situated to
the right of the fireplace in the Southeast corner of
the house. Mr. Askins determined that the original
stair would have been a box stair located in the
center of the main floor, ascending into the garret
above. He cites that this type of stairway is seen
almost universally in mid-eighteenth century houses
of the Delaware Valley, and that they were popular

in Georgia and other rural areas of the South.22
According to Askins the staircase was “taken from

a local structure, altered, and reinstalled in the Rock
House in the recent past.”>

Interior Hardware
All of the interior hardware was recreated during the
Askins restoration as well. In his recommendation
section he cites that,
“only antique or custom made, hand-forged
iron hardware should be used in the interior
of the house. Since antique hardware is
often comparably priced with fine reproductions,
eighteenth century hardware should be used
where possible. It is possible that hardware

made in the Wrightsboro area had a Germanic

28 Askins, 45.
23 Askins, 42.
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flair as is common in contemporary hardware
seen in the Delaware Valley and event the
Shenandoah Valley of Virginia which was settled
by the Scottish-Irish and Germans. A reputable
source for antique and hand-made

reproduction is: Monroe Coldren of West

Chester, Pennsylvania.”>*

Electrical System

An electrical system was introduced into the interior
of the Rock House in order to use the house as a
house museum. Wiring was concealed whenever
possible, and track lighting was installed on the

ceiling of the main floor rooms.

Cellar

The Askins Team restored the cellar floor to its
original level after the archeological study was
completed and installed a new cellar stair based

on the historical precedent. The Askins Team also
removed the wooden posts supporting the main
summer beam and installed a steel jack to add
stabilization. The team removed a bowed joist
adjacent to east chimney mass and installed a new
Joist to match the original. The renovation team also
installed new ceiling joists in the southeast corner of
the cellar to replace those which were cut during the
insertion and removal of the winding corner staircase

(for more information please see interior stair).”
Main Floor Interior Walls

24 Askins, 53.
25 Askins, 55.
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During the renovation, modern plaster was removed;

walls were re-stuccoed as needed. and whitewashed.

The interior windowsills were restored by removing
the cement-wash and installing new single-board
pine sills “based on the historical precedent.”
Modern interior partition walls were removed and
replaced with new partition walls. The interior doors
were replaced with new board and batten doors.
Non-original narrow board flooring was removed and
antique pine flooring was discovered and repaired.
The team also replaced missing portions of original

molded baseboards to match the original.

Upper Half Story

The team removed non-original floorboards and
replaced them with new, wide, heart pine boards
(beaded on the reverse side) to match original
flooring and secured the boards with reproduction
flooring nails. A cross wall, and all the board

sheathing from the walls and ceiling were removed.

Roof

The Rock House has a regular side gable roof.
During the renovation, asphalt shingles were
removed and all of the original round butt
shingles and rose head nails were retained for
display in the future. The deteriorated roof lath
was replaced; new flashing was installed at the
chimney and roof ridge; new 4”x 24" round
butt cypress shingles were installed 8” from the
weather to match the existing starter course of
26 Askins, 55.

4 x 18" square butt shingles, and the ridge was
combed.”’

Cornice

Askins’ team reconstructed missing portions of
bed molding on the South elevation and patched
related mortise pockets with crown molding. They
restored missing and or deteriorated portions of

cornice on the north elevation.

Windows

Window frames were replaced with new frames
based on documented evidence. The team
fortunately discovered three original frames on the
main floor of the south fagade. The western most
window frame had survived unaltered, confirming
the exact size of the original sash. The Askins
Team assumed that “8” x 10 glass was used in the
sash, as is the case with an overwhelming majority
of coeval buildings.”® The north and south facades
of the Rock House had 6/9 double-hung windows.
While, the east and west fagades were fitted
with 6/6 double-hung. The cellar windows were
replaced simultaneously, however since the Askins
renovation, all of the cellar windows have been
destroyed, inhibiting our ability to determine what

type of replacement windows were used in the cellar.

27 Askins, 60.
28 Askins, 46.
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Barge Boards

New barge boards (decorative wood panels placed
within a structure’s projecting gable ends) were
installed based on surviving evidence and were

constructed of antique heart pine.

Doors

Cellar and north door frames were removed. The
original south door frame was restored. New wood
sills were installed to replace deteriorated sills. New
board and batten doors with wrought iron strap

hinges were installed.

Stonework

The parging was removed from the original
fieldstone exterior walls, returning the exterior to its

original appearance.

ental History
/ ic Background.
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Rock House Status in 2012

Since the 1979-1981 renovation completed by
Norman Askins, the Rock House was returned back
to the Wrightsboro Foundation due to budget cuts
within the State of Georgia. In present day, the Rock
House is used for special events and can be rented
from the Wrightsboro Foundation by anyone. There
have also been a number of non-sponsored events

at the Rock House in recent years. The evidence

of these parties is left behind along with more

damage done to the house.”” The strurture is rapidly
deteriorating.

29 Conversation with Elizabeth Vance Sept.
2012.

22
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(For location references to the following section

see Developmental History: Floor Plans 6-7)

Overview

This assessment of the Rock House examines
the existing conditions of the building and its
components. This includes both the original
stonewalls, and the interior partitions and finishes
introduced in the 1979-1981 “restoration” and
alterations made in between. The building has
undergone generations of rehabilitations and is
layered with multiple histories of materials. The
only remaining original components of the building
are the exterior stonewalls and the summer beam

supporting the first floor.

Please refer to the Developmental History: Historic
Background section for a more in depth chronology

of the Rock House’s evolution.

Scope of Assessment

The assessment was completed using visual
inspections of the building and its components
and through minimally invasive testing of surfaces
and materials. No significantly evasive tests were

completed.

Foundation

The load bearing masonry foundation ranges from
10-14” thick walls made of varying sizes of rough-
faced fieldstone of gneiss and granite with a high

lime mortar mix on top of original red clay mortar.

There are slightly darker colored ashlar stone quoins

on each corner. The footing system is simply placed
on the ground 24 inches under ground level. The
original stones are structurally sound with minor

cracks and mold issues.

Exterior Siding

The stone masonry structure appears to have been
sand blasted to remove a preexisting Portland cement
covering, which has left some areas of damage to

the original stone. It is unclear of the date of such

sandblasting.

Roof
The moderately pitched side gabled roof has wood

shingles over modern sheathing. It displays post and
beam braced frame construction with queen posts.
There is evidence of a second queen post that has
been removed. There is plywood attached to the
rafters beneath the shingles that were added in 1981.

23
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The exterior roof has a vent ridge, what seems to be
flashing around the chimney bases and a drip edge
over the South porch. There are closed eaves with a

I”” overhang,.

Windows

The original windows were 9/6 double-hung on the
north and south elevations and 6/6 on the east and
west elevations. Wooden jack arches, that appear
original, support the rough openings on the main
floor and lower level. All of the glass is new in the
structure and is either greatly damaged or missing.
Each window has a wood window shelf and lintel

extending out 8-10".

The lower floor has nine windows total and all have
a 87 deep stool created by the wall thickness. The
north elevation has three windows in total but only
one has glass. The east and west facades of the lower
level have two square windows, also with glass

missing and the south fagade has two windows.

Doors

The central entrance on the north elevation is 36
wide and shares a window on the left with a stool.
Original window sills have been replaced with new
wood and wrought iron hardware. The double doors
on the south entrance lead to rooms 3 and 4. The
door swings mirror each other and are constructed
with modern wood. All doors are false replicas of the

originals with replicas of period hardware.

24

Floors

The floor systems still contain some original tongue
and groove pine floorboards in the main floor in the
northern rooms from the wall out to eight boards.
Modern boards are used throughout the rest of the
house on both floors. The subterranean cellar floor is

pounded dirt.

The floor system supporting the main floor consists
of modern 8" floor joists supported by timber beams
spaced every 5°. The floor joists from the interior
north facade extending out to the 8th board appear to
be original. A modern floor system has been placed
in at 8” boards. The upper floors are modern tongue
and groove wood. The east-west summer beam is
considered original and is moderately sagging. A
Jack located in the center of the room supports the
sagging summer beam. This sag creates a noticeable
deflection in the first floor slanting toward the center
of the house. The floor joists in the upper half story

are straight sawn.

Wall Systems and Coverings

The main floor is partitioned into four rooms, with

a single width of vertical boards dividing the north
and south. The east and west rooms are partitioned
with a stud wall with horizontal boards. The interior
walls on the main level are covered with thick plaster
and white lime wash. Graffiti and defects of the wall
cladding are abundant.

.




Walls in the lower level are exposed rough granite
without any evidence of being plastered over.
Nailer blocks of timber have been set into the wall
at roughly 48 above the floor potentially for the
purpose of hanging utensils, but appear to have little
evidence of having ever been used.

The upper half story flooring system has modern
sawed timber and has been partially partitioned with
vertical wood boards.

Framing
The framing in the attic and roof is a braced frame

system with queen posts.

Fireplaces and Chimneys

There are two interior end chimneys flush with the
east and west elevations. There is a stone hearth,
previous to the 1979-1981 reconstruction under
modern poured concrete. The east chimney shares
three fireboxes, one in the cellar, and two on the
main floor in Room 1 and 2 (see floor plan on page
40). The corner fireplace is located in the southeast
corner of Room 1 and finished with plaster. The
chimney in Room 2, is 8° wide and 2’ deep and is
constructed with two, possibly original, horizontal
timber lintels spanning the full breadth of the
chimney mass which resemble the nailer blocks

in the basement in size. The chimney on the west
elevation has a firebox on the lower lever and in
Room 3 of the main floor. Both chimneys have been

partially rebuilt, which is indicated by the minimal

evidence of use in the firebox. The exterior of the

chimneys is granite ashlar, both lacking a cap with an
open flue.

25
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Shutters

There are shutters on all windows on the main floor
with recreated wrought iron hardware. None of the
shutters are original. Shutter are missing on both

north and south fagade windows.

Porch

There is a porch leading into the main floor on the
South fagade that has six steps leading up on the
west side with a 36” high rail. The porch was re-built
and placed according to archaeological evidence.

Stairs

There are stairs in the basement leading up towards
the north elevation of Room 1 ostensibly placed where
the original stairs were located. The cutout stringers
are 77 rise and 8” tread with 22” in width and begin
42” from the south entrance.
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The stairs leading to the upper-half-story are
partitioned on three sides and open up into Room 3.
The upper staircase is placed directly above the lower
staircase. The stairs are 36” wide and radiate with 5
winders in a 3” squared area. The stairs are compsoed

of solid boards with closed risers.

Hardware and Nails

A few original hand wrought iron nails are still
remaining in the house in various places. The
majority of the nails used for construction are
modern machine cut nails. A few hand wrought
nails have been made to replicate the originals.
Hardware such as iron shutter dogs and iron drive

pintels on recreated doors are also replications.




Furnishings
The house does not have any type of furnishings
other than a commercial floor mat on the interior

floor of the north entrance.

Utilities

An electrical system was installed in 1981. The
system is currently in an inoperable state. Integral
copper portions have been harvested by vandals
along with all bulbs and other significant parts of a

functioing electrical system.

Security System

There is no current security system in place but there
is a strong need for one. There is a wooden latch

on the inside of the south entrance, which is not

currently used.
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(For location references to the following

section see Developmental History: Floor
Plans 6-7)

Overview

The conditions assessment of the Rock House
examines the existing conditions of the
stucture and its components. This includes the
original stone walls and the interior partitions
and finishes introduced in the 1979-1981

restoration project.

(Please refer to the Developmental History:
Historic Background section, for an in depth

chronology of the Rock House's evolution.)

Scope of Assessment

The assessment was completed through

a visual inspection of the building and its
components. Minor invasive testing of surfaces

and materials were completed.

Site

The roof of the Rock House does not have
gutters, causing rainfall to drain towards

the foundation of the building. The site’s
surrounding grade pitches toward the building
causing the cellar to show signs of water

infiltration and ponding.

The water drainage on the south facade has

impared the cellar entrance retaining walls,
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and caused the south cellar windows to rot. Previous

attempts to drain excess water from the cellar are
evident, with the placement of drain pipes in the
corners of the basement. However, the system is not
successful since the floor is not graded to move water
towards the drains.

Exterior Masonry

The 10-14” thick walls are constructed of rubble
stone with quoins on the corners. The majority

of the walls are straight, with the exception of a
significant bow in the middle of the east wall with
noticeable cracks in the mortar and through some
stones. The bowed area is indicated by a noticable
amount of biotic growth on the upper surface of the

bulge. The exposed masonry was covered in stucco
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in the 1920s. The stucco was later removed in the
1978-1981 Askins restoration. At this time. the
exterior masonry was then repointed using a lime
based mortar. The repointing is in good shape and
shows only a few signs of repair on the southwest

corner of the building that were completed with

Portland cement.
Interior Masonry

Basement

The rubble stone basement walls have been repointed
only on the chimney support walls. The east
chimney’s left corner shows a definite slant to the left

and has cement repointing placed over the original

clay mortar. It is unclear at this point, whether this

slant was an original feature of the wall or if it has

shifted over time.

Fireplaces
The fireplace on the west wall is missing its key

stone, but it has been missing since at least the 1960s

when an archival photo was taken. The mortar on the
southwest corner of the fire place has been eroded
and will need repointing. The stone work above

the west wall window is showing signs of settling
and cracking due to termite damage in the window
header (discussed in Framing), and the cracks are

expressed through to the exterior as well.

The large fireplace hearths were replaced during

the Askins renovation and show signs of cracking
due to rusting of the metal plates installed behind.
The fireplace boxes themselves (especially the east
chimney) show signs of settling and repairs made to
the inside of the flu. The chimneys do not have caps
on them which allows water to run down the inside

of the structure.
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First Floor

The first floor interior walls were re-stuccoed during

the Askins renovation with Portland cement. In
room 1, the east wall stucco has begun to deteriorate
and expose a thick layer of lime putty. A chemical
reaction, caused by the application of the portland

cement, has been pulling lime out of the original

stone wall mortar mix.

Attic
The attic walls are roughly finished, with what
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appears to be a more recent and thicker repointing

completed with modern cement.
Framing

Basement

The wooden headers of all the basement windows
show signs of termite damage with the most
significant damage being in the west wall. This

damage is also evident in some of the joists

supporting the first floor in the northwest corner.

The first floor main support beam has been repaired except for a small section in the northwest corner
\ with a large splice and metal bracket but still sags which appears to be older, more narrow wood. The
R significantly. It now sits on one metal support post interior partitions from the Askins restoration, and
and the screw jack has not been used in many years. are in good shape. There seems to be no major
structural issues with any of them.
First Floor
» The first floor sags toward the main support beam The large, wooden fireplace lintels are scorched
running parallel to the north wall of the building. and a large amount of wood is missing on the back
B However, the floors appear to be in generally good side of each one. With no caps on the chimneys to

condition. The flooring appears to be relatively new keep the moisture out, or fires to dry them they are
30




susceptible to rot. Roof

The roof'is sheathed in wood shingles that show
The ceiling in room 1 shows signs of paint between signs of failure. Missing, cupped, and broken
the joists that suggests it is older than the Askins shingles appear across the roof surface on both the

restoration. front and the rear of the building.

The window sill next to the north door in room 1
is loose and has termite damage. The north right
window header and the west right window header A

also have termite damage.

Attic

The attic floor is wide tongue and groove boards that
appear to be similar except for three in the southeast
quadrant of the attic that display circular saw marks.
The brace roof structure is in good shape with older
wood shingle nailer boards still in place. These

are covered with plywood for the current roof and

show signs of moisture leakage. The roof structure 2t ¢

: \ ¢ At this time we are unable to tell if there are fur
shows signs of both straight and circular cut marks, ; :

3 ; strips under the shingles or tar paper on the plywood.
suggesting the roof structure is a replacement. ;

The current shingles also appear to be too narrow to

provide adequate off set of the joints. There is also
a low overhanging tree rubbing against the roof on

the southwest corner of the building.

Utilities
Currently the building’s electrical system is
inoperable. The track lighting is broken and missing
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Recommendations
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Goal

Our goal is to take proactive steps to secure and
preserve the Rock House, as it stands now, so that
future interpretation and restoration work can be
addressed when funding is available. The most
effective course of action is to “mothball” the
building where by it will be secured from further
damage and vandalism, ventilated to prevent material

degradation, and consistently monitored.

Overview

Each system within the rock house has been assessed
and the steps for preservation and repair have been
identified within this report.

0 e 1 o i

The items listed as Priority 1 in each system’s
section should be addressed before the building is
mothballed.

These steps have been ranked into the following

categories:

e Priority 1. Immediate action should be taken.

»  Priority 2: Should be addressed in the near
future, start planning now.

*  Priority 3: Issues that should be addressed in

the future but are not critical.
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Mothballing DIte
Until consensus can be reached on an action plan
for the site, the building should stabilized and

mothballed. Mothballing allows the building to

be secured so that no further damage occurs from

Priority 1

*  Cut back tree limbs coming in contact with the
roof.

Priority 2

vandalism and halts any further deterioration. ; .
y Turther Getstiomion * Regrade around the foundation to establish

This is an accepted and appropriate treatment L )
P PRIORAIE e positive drainage so that water flows away from

for an historic resource and grant funding for
the structure.

stabilization and mothballing should be pursued.

* Install french drain around the base of the

building to remove water trying to work its way

Key Actions Needed to Mothball
a Building

I. Secure the building and its component features

under the foundation wall.
Priority 3

f : *  Conduct a comprehensive archeological survey
to reduce vandalism or break-ins.

of the site using a trained archeologist.

2. Provide adequate ventilation to the interior.
3. Develop and implement a maintenance and

monitoring plan for protection.

Mothballing will negate the need for a costly
caretaker’s residence and allow fundraising
for the preservation of the structure to remain
the focus. Once the building has been properly
secured, a daily rotation of monitoring and

inspection should be set up utilizing appropriate,

interested parties and law enforcement. For more

information please see Appendix C (National

Park Preservation Brief 31 Service http:/www.
nps.gov/hps/tps/briefs/brief3 1.htm.)
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Masonry

Priority 1

Install crack monitors on the east and west

exterior cracks to check and monitor for

movement.

Install bracing and replace the lintel in the west
basement window to support sagging masonry.
Install chimney caps to keep rain out of the
chimneys and eliminate source of moisture.
Priority 2

* Remove loose interior stucco.

* Appropriately asses the historic mortar mixture.

Then repoint eroded and missing mortar

1939333233833 32 R R332 R 5335 F R
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segments around the basement fireplaces with the

appropriate motar mixture.

Priority 3

Check interior basement floor drains for proper
function and repair as needed.

Grade basement floor to divert any water that
seeps into the basement, into drains and away
from the foundation walls.

Assess metal hearth supports for corrosion

(expansion due to rust) and replace as needed.
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Framing

Priority 1

Inspect for active termite and powder post beetle
activity.
Replace structurally compromised rotten window

sills and termite/ beetle damaged headers and
beams.

Priority 3

Work to level the floor using the existing jack if
possible. If this is not possible, brace and sup-
port the main beam to level out the floor.

Remove graffiti and repair vandalism.

Priority 2
*  Assess the main beam and screw jack support
to see if it is structurally sound for the weight of

future visitors and can be used to level out the
first floor.




Roof

Priority 1

* Assess the roof and identify necessary repairs.

*  Repair the roof before significant leaks occur

that may damage other parts of the structure.

Priority 2

* Replace the existing roof with a properly

ventilated wooden shingle roof.
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Windows and Doors

Priority 1
* Lock and secure all doors and windows with
stable locking mechanisms. Close and lock all

window shutters already in place.

Priority 2
* Repair/ replace missing and or broken doors with
historically accurate materials.

* Remove and replace all broken window glass

Priority 3

»  Continuously secure all windows and doors

when the house is not in use.

Electrical System

Priority 1:

Remove the existing wiring/ fixtures/ conduit,

while retaining the primary feed and panel.
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Tourism brochure circa 1976

Here's Hist

By Pearl Baker

The oldest house in McDuffie County, the Old
Rock House, was built by Thomas Ansley
between 1782 and 1785,

Thomas Ansley was born in New Jersey, the
son of William, an English weaver by trade. He
was baptized in the Old Tennant Presbyterian
church in 1737, and married Rebecca Cocke inm
1760, in Monemsouth, N.J.

He, his brothers Benjamin and William and
their families, traveled south around 1765, and
lived for a shoet time In Hillsboro, N.C. It was
here that he met Joseph Maddock, the Quaker
leader, and came to Georgia with the Quakers in
1768. William Ansley moved to South Carolina,
and later to Lincoln County,

It has never been proved that the Ansleys were
Quakers, bul they were closely associated with
thern, and both Thomas and Benjamin recelved
town lols in Wrightsbaro, when the fown was
founded

During the Revolution, Thomas served as a
forager and drover for the Army and was given
bounty grants for his services, by the State. He
applied for other tracts, and eventually cwned

ROCK "OUSE pround 4500 acres in Wilkes amd Richmond
counties. The parl of Wilkes in which he hived
c.1785

became Warren County kn 1793, and McDuifie in
1870,

He built his house after the fashion of the ones
he had kpown [n New Jersey, with mside
chinneys and other details common to these
houses, This has been verified by an historbeal
architect. It hed a basement room, with a large
lireplace, where it is believed the family cooked
its meals. On the next (loor are two large rooms,
two a [little smaller, and a ‘“birthing" or
sick-romm, where ailing members of lhe group
could be cared for, but still be out of the way.
This room has 8 most wnusual corner fireplace
The two larger rooms have fireplaces capable of
burning six foot logs.

The top floor, reached by a marrow, winding
staircase, conlains two loft moms, and were
apparently finished much later than the rest of
the house.

Family tradition states that when the house
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was built, entry was achieved by a ladder, which
could be drawn up into the house, in times of
trouble sweh as  Indian attacks; the present
porches are a later addition. The Rock walls of
the house are twenty-four inches thick of
fieldstone, and give a truly fortress-ke
appearance

Thomas deeded the property to his eldest son
Abel In 1798 and moved to a sile close to
Maddock™s Creek. This house no longer exists. He
died here in 1809 at the age of 72. His widow
stayed on until her death in 1514, The Daughters
of the American Revolution placed a marker for
Thomas in the side yard of the Rock House, lo
commemarate his Revolutionary Service

Thomas left & large family; two daughters whe
married into the Duckworth line, and seven sons
lone was & stepson), who were all remembered
in his will. The final division of the estate came
after Rebekah Ansley’s death In 1814

It is difficult to trace the-Rock House owners in
the years between 1817 and 1844, since the deeds
for this period have been lost. However, due lo
the efforts of Ken Thomas of the Department of
Natural Resources, in Atlanta, we find that Abel
Ansley's legatees sold Lke Hock House tract to
Nicholaz C. Bacon in 1845, He lived here until his
death in 1873, and his widow subsequently sald
the property to Mrs. Effie Rees Johnson and her
two sons, Benjamin and Joel. Benjamin bought
out their shares in 1892, and retained ownership
until his death in 1938, although he never lived
here, but rented it out to tenants, Tt was he whao
had the outside of the house cemented over, to
prevent the more-than-century old mortar from
crumbling away,

In 1965, the two daughters of Mr. Johnson
deeded the house and one acre of land over to the
Wrightshero Foundation, for restoration and
preservation. It was in very poor shape due to
neglect and vandalism; all the intericr wooden
partitions had been ripped out, the windows
broken and great holes punched in the chimmeys
and rock walls. The porch roof was hanging down
over the doors like a drooping eyelid.

The first thing the Foundation did, was to put

tfory of Old Rock House

up a fence, with the labor being donated by the
Thomson Jaycees. A well and pump (which were
promptly stolen) were installed, and a septic lank
put in place. Electricity was run to the house
Extensive work was done an the interior by Mr.
Hammond Reld, who mended the walls, and
replaced the missing partitions with material
from an 1805 farm house in Columbia County,
which was being torn down.

In 1970, in preparation for the McDuffie
Centen<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>